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Lucovich, Petitioner,
June 12, 1885.

shipowner, of Bute Docks, Cardiff, presented
this petition praying the Court to fence and
arrest the steamship ¢ Cavendish,” at present
lying in the Leith Docks, her hull, keel, engines,
spars, sails, and stores, with her float boats,
furniture, and apparelling, the freight due by
the various receivers of the cargo discharged by
her at Leith . . . . . and to grant warrant for
putting the said warrant into all lawful execution,
to the dismantling of the said steamship if neces-
sary.

The petitioner stated that the ship had in Feb-
ruary been stranded near Trieste and floated off
and towed there, and in consequence of her dam-
age baving made her unseaworthy, been placed in
dock for repairs ; that the master being obliged to
provide for the crew and the expense of repairs and
provisions for the voyage home (and the vessel
being under judicial arrest for the expense of sail-
ing), found it necessary in order to save the vessel
to the owners and bring her home (after failing
to get an ordinary loan and to obtain money from
the owners, whom he had informed of the amount
needed), to grant a bottorary bond to the peti-
tioner’s cedent in Trieste for £5000, payable within
three days of arrival at Leith, by which bond a spe-
cial lien as security of the loan was constituted over
the ship, her hull, keel, engines, &c. ; that the peti-
tioner was now indorsee of the bond, and had failed
to obtain the money from the master, who refused
or delayed payment; that the pefitioner was
therefore about to sue him therefor, but the ship
having been made ready for sea, arrestment was
necessary to prevent her from proceeding to sea
without payment, whereby the petitioner’s only
security wounld be lost. .

The Court pronounced this interlocutor :—

¢ Appoint the petition to be intimated on
the walls and in the minute-book in common
form, and with a copy of this deliverance to
be served on Eltringham MacDowell [the
master], named in the petition, and allow
him to appear at-the bar of this Court to-
morrow at ten o’clock and lodge answers to
the petition within eight days after service
of this deliverance if so advised; grant
warrant to messenger-at-arms to arrest the
steamship ¢ Cavendish’ ad interim, and that
on exhibition of a certified copy of this
interlocutor, and appoint the execution of
arrestment to be reported to the Court
within twenty-four hours.”

MacDowell, the master, next day appeared at
the bar of the Court and undertook that his ship
would not leave Leith until the matter in dispute
with the petitioner was settled.

The petitioner intimated that he was satisfied
with this undertaking, and did not further insist
on the prayer of the petition.

Lorps Youne and RUTHERFURD CLARK were
nbsent.

Counsel for Petitioner—Dickson,

Agents—
Boyd, Jameson, & Kelly, W.S.

HOUSE OF LORDS.

Monday, May 4.

(Before Lords Blackburn, Watson, and
Fitzgerald).

BRODIE AND ANOTHER 7. MANN,

(Ante, vol. xxi. p. 675, 11 R. 925—
13th June 1884.
Road — Public  Right-of-Way — Prescription —
Presumption—Onus Probandi.

For 87 years from 1846 the public were ex-
cluded from use of a road passing through the
estate of G. In an action raised at the end of
that time to have it declared that the road was
a public right-of-way, it was proved that from
1820 to 1846 the road was used by the public
continuously and as matter of right. With re-
gard to the period before 1820 the evidence
was conflicting. Held (rev. judgment of
First Division) that the evidence of public
use prior to that year was not sufficiently
strong to overcome the presumption®against
the public arising from the fact of exclu-
sion during the long period of 37 years.

This case is reported in Court of Session, ante,
vol. xxi. p. 676, and 11 R. 925—13th June 1884,
The defender Mr Mann appealed.
At delivering judgment—

Lorp BrackBURN—My Lords, the Lord Ordi-
nary in this case, by his interlocutor, having con-
sidered the proof, ‘‘found it proved that the
defender and his predecessors in title have ex-
cluded the public from the use of the road in
question since the year 1846, and that there is
no proof of the assertion of a right on the part
of the public since that year ; finds it not proved
that the road in question had been a publie road
during the pericd of 40 years antecedent to the
year 1847,” and he gave judgment for the de-
fenders.

The pursuers reclaimed, as they bad a right to
do, and the Judges of the First Division recalled
the interlocutor, and found it proved that ‘“the
road in question had been a public road during
the period of 40 years antecedent to the com-
mencement of the year 1847, and gave judgment
for the pursuers. They differed from the Lord
Ordinary, not as to any question of law, but as
to the effect of the evidence.

My Lords, there was not anything in the
nature of the evidence to give the Lord Ordi-
nary, though be heard the witnesses, better means
of judging than the Judges of the First Division
or your Lordships, who only read the notes ; and
the Judges, I think, owed it to the respondents to
form their own opinion and to act upon it if it
was different from that of the Lord Ordinary.
I think now that your Lordships owe it to the
appellant to form your own opinion and to act
upon it though it is different from that of the
Inner Division. I need not say that I should
not lightly differ from them, even though in so
doing I agreed with the Lord Ordinary.

The evidence is voluminous, but there is no
difference between the Judges below except as to
the effect that ought to be given to the evidence
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relating to the period, I think, I may say, be-
tween 1805 and 1810, which is directly touched
by only a very little of the evidence, and as to
the weight to be given to the contrary presump-
tions, srising, one in favour of the pursuers,
from the fact, which they all agree is proved by
preponderating evidence, that the road was used
by the public during a period between 1820
and 1846, affording some reason for acting on
slighter evidence during the earlier 14 years
which are required to make up the 40 years, and
one the other way, arising from the fact, which
they all agree in finding, that the public have been
excluded from 1846, and that there is no proof
of the assertion of a right on the part of the
public sinee that year. Though exclusion for
less than 40 years will not extinguish a public
road which is proved to have been created, the
fact of no right having been asserted during an
exclusion of so long a period .as 37 years affords
some reason for requiring more evidence to
establish that such a right really existed.

There must have been many alive in the period
between 1846 and say 1856, and now dead, who
must bave known much more as to what really
was the state of user of the road between 1805
and 1820 than those now alive ; and if they did
not assert a right, it affords some ground for
surmising that they did mot think that right
existed, and therefore some ground for looking
more critically at the evidence produced to prove
that it did.

The case is to be governed by the law of Scot-
land. Any reference to English law is apt to
‘mislead, unless the difference of the law of the
two countries is borne in mind. Inboth countries
a right of public way may be acquired by pre-
scription. In England the common law period
of prescription was time immemorial, and any
claim by prescription was defeated by proof that
the right claimed had originated within the time
of legal memory, that is, since A.D. 1189, This
was, no doubt, an unreasonably long period.
And sometimes, by legal fictions of presumed
grants, and in part by legislation, the period re-
quired for prescription as to private rights has in
many cases been practically cut down to a much
shorter definite period. (See Angus v. Dalton,
6 Appeal Cases, 740). But this has never been
done in the case of a public right-of-way. And
it has not been required, though in the way in
which the evil of the period of prescription being
too long has been avoided, an opposite evil of
establishing public rights-of-way on a very short
usurpation has sometimes been incurred.

In Poole v. Huskisson (11 Meeson and Welsby,
830) Baron Parke says—*‘In order to constitute
a valid dedication to the public of a highway by
the owner of the soil, it is clearly settled that
there must be an intention to dedicate; there
must he an animus dedicandi, of which the user
by the public is evidence and no more; and a
single act of interruption by the owner is of
much more weight upon a question of intention
than many acts of enjoyment.”

But it has also been held that where there has
been evidence of a user by the public so long and
in such a manner that the owner of the fee,
whoever he was, must have been aware that the
public were acting under the belief that the way
had been dedicated, and has taken no steps to
disabuse them of that belief, it is not conclusive

| evidence, but evidence on which those who have
’ to find the fact may find that there was a dedica-

tion by the owner whoever he was, It is there-
fore practically necessary to rely on prescription.

Now, it is to be observed that though the length
of time during which a road is used as a public
highway is an element in determining whether a
dedication should be inferred, it is not any defi-
nite time, and a very short period of usurpation
will often satisfy a jury. But I am far from think-
ing that the law of England is here at all the per-
feetion of reason, or such as ought to be intro-
duced into the law of Scotland if not so already.

No case is made here as to a right-of-way
created by the owner, either on the titles or by
such acts (if any there be) as without any writing
might according to the law of Scotland, preclude
the owner and those who claim under him from
denying that a right-of-way had been created.
The sole claim is by prescription, and I think
there is no dispute that by the law of Scotland
the period of prescription is forty years. If the
public have used the road to such an extent and
in such a mauner that they may properly be said
to be possessed of it, and they have had such
possession for forty years, they have acquired
the right, and that although it was shown that
the owner in fee was during that time not dedi-
cating it ; but if less than forty years’ possession
ig proved, thers is not, as I understand, any prin-
ciple or authority for saying that a dedication is
to be presumed. And, again, when the public
are excluded for forty years, their right, however
clear it may be that they once had one, is gone by
negative prescription. The question, in short, is
as to possession by the public or against the
public for a period of forty years, and not as in
England as to user by the public for such an un-
defined time, and in such a manner and under
such circumstances as to justify the inference
that an owner in fee had dedicated.

I think that evidence of possession by the
public such as is proved in this case, between
1820 and 1846, would in England justify a
jury in finding a dedication before 1846; but it
does not justify a finding of prescriptive right,
unless it is proved tbat it continued so long, either
at the beginning or end of the period as to amount
to 40 years.

I do not propose to enter into the evidence in
detail. I agree with the Judges below that the
fair result of the proof is that in 1842, when
Captain Stirling, already the owner of Glentyan,
purchased the adjoining farm of Wardhouse, and
began to take steps to throw it into his policies,
he did exclude the public from a road which they
had possessed for sometime, I agree also in
thinking that this exclusion was not complete
till the gate was set up across the road.

The appellant’s counsel showed that there was
gome conflict of testimony as to whether the ex-
clusion was complete from the time the gate was
set up, and also as to the time when the gate was
put up, some putting it in 1851, some in 1860,
but I think the preponderance of proof was that
the gate was set up in 1846, and that the exclu-
sion of the public was complete from that time,
and not before. That puts the defender in pos-
session, as against the public, for 87 years but not
for 40.

The Wardhouse farm lies between two publie
roads, the northern being called Lawmarnock
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Road and the southern one the Bruntshields Road.
A small stream of water flows across the Ward-
house farm to Glentyan Mill, and & dam was
made for the mill close by the Bruntshields road.
The farm-steading of Wardhouse farm is erected
about half way between the two public roads on
the northern or Lawmarnock side of the stream.
When sll this was done does not appear, but it
certainly was sometime before the beginning of
this century.

The earliest evidence given for the pursuer is
that of an old man, Matthew Houston, who was
born in 1793, and continued at school till he was
11 years old, that is, till 1804, when he went
away to learn weaving. As I understand his
evidence, it is not so strong in favour of the
respondents as Lord Mure thinks if, but is some
evidence in favour of the existence of and the
user by the public of the road at this early time.
He says that he used to go ‘‘ginneling” trout in
the burn whilst he was a schoolboy, but after he
became a weaver was kept closer to his work,
and did not go again till he was grown up, and
he also used to go to curl in winter and to bathe
in summer in the dam, In all those ways he
would see the place; how far he would observe,
or how accurately recollect what he observed, is
aquestion. I see noreason to doubt that the boy
who was ‘‘ginneling” trout would observe, and
probably remember as long as he remembered any-
thing, that on the spot where there is now a bridge
over the little stream there was then no bridge,
but a deep pool now silted up; and as the farmer
who occupied the steading must have crossed the
stream to get to his fields on the south side, I
suppose there probably was at that time some
kind of ford across the stream; whether the
boy would so accurately observe or remember
that ford there may be a doubt. He says
when he next came after he was grown up
(I suppose he would hardly call himself so
till he was 16 or 17, that is, in 1809 or 1810)
the bridge was built, but he does not know
by whom or when. He says that he saw carts
and horses using the road ; it is by no means clear
whether he means in his schooldays or in his
grown-up days. But he does say, and I think it
very likely, that in the early morning when he
and the other boys were waiting to get their
breakfasts, and the milk-carts were late in com-
ing, the hungry boys would walk along the
Bruntshields road to meet them, and he says, I
have seen them on the road in question going
past Wardhouse.” This is some evidence thaf
light carts such as milk carts did come that way
before the bridge was built. There is a good
desl of evidence that after the bridge was built
a number of carts, not very large, but as many
as could be reasonably supposed to have an ob-
jeet in going from Lawmarnock Road to Brunt-
shields Road, did use the road, but this is I think

the only direct evidence of such a user before

the bridge was built.

Mr Stevenson, who was tenant of the Ward-
house farm from 1805 to 1823, when he removed
to Auchinames in the neighbourhood, built the
bridge. He is dead, but his son, who was born in
1812, and cannot of course speak of his own
knowledge as to anything happening before 1817
or 1818, is called. He was born at Wardhouse,
and continued there till they flitted to Auchinames,
and there continued to live with his father till

his death in 1849, when he succeeded his father
in that farm. He tells us, what is very probable,
that his father talked to him about what had been
done ; and as his father is dead, that is evidence.
It is of course subject to the observation that the
deceased cannot be cross-examined, and that the
witness does not say (and probable would not be
believed if he did say) that he cross-examined the
deceased as to what he told him ; but his account
of what his father told him is to my mind worthy
of credit, and witbout reading what is printed I
think it strong to show that before the bridge
was built the publie could hardly use this road at
all, certainly not conveniently, with any except
empty or very light carts.

Lord Mure geems to think that because the
witness says, what on reflection is self-evident,
that he cannot tell from his own recollection
what was the state of the place before the bridge
was built—that is, before the witness was born—
and cannot tell more from reeollection of what
his father told him than that he said that until
it was made a loaded cart could not cross the
ford, this evidence is not so favourable to the
appellant’s case ag I consider it. I do not at all
think it conclusive, but when I weigh it against
that of Matthew Houston, I think it is the more
reliable of the two.

I agree with Lord Adam that when you find 2
number of old persons speaking to a certain
state of matters, there is a fair presnmption that
we should have had others, if they had survived,
speaking in the same way. But old Mr Steven-
son, if he had survived, would, if his son’s recol-
lections are accurate, have spoken very differ-
ently from Matthew Houston, and he is the only
witness who speaks to the state of things before
the bridge was built, and Lord Adam lays down
very strongly that submission by the public to
exclusion for thirty-seven years, though not a
bar, throws a heavy onusg on those who seek to
establish the public use for forty years, yet when
the point is brought to be as to what was the
state of things in 1807, about the beginning of
the forty years (and the evidence is I think
rather in favour of the defender), Lord Adam
seems to give no effect to the onus at all.

I think the Lord Ordinary was right, and as I
believe your Lordships are of the same opinion,
I move that the appeal be allowed, and the inter-
locutor of the Lord Ordinary restored, the apell-
ant having the expenses in the Court below
from the date of the Lord Ordinary’s interlocu-
tor, the respondents paying also the costs of this
appeal.

Lorp WarsoN—My Lords, this action was in-
stituted by the respondents in August 1883 for
the purpose of establishing a public right-of-
way for foot-passengers, carts, and carriages
along a road or track leading northwards from
a public road known as the Bruntshields Road
through the appellant’s lands of Wardkouse to
another public road known as the Lawmarnock
Road. The road in dispute and its termini are
situated in an agricultural district of Renfrew-
shire,’and at no great distance from the village of
Kilbarchan,

The respondents sue as members of the public,
and the right of road which they ask the Court
to declare is besed, not upon grant or dedica-
tion, but upon prescriptive user by the public.
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In the able arguments addressed o us from both
sides of the bar, there was really no serious con-
troversy faised in regard to the legal principles
applicable to the constitution of a public right
of that kind, and in my opinion there is little
room for controversy on that point; according to
the law of Scotland, the constitution of such a
right does not depend upon any legal fiction, but
upon the fact of user by the public as matter of
right continuously, and without interruption for
the period of the long prescription.  Lord Stair
(Inst. ii. 12, 9) states prescription to be a rule
of “positive law founded upon utility rather
than equity,” and he adds (Inst. ii. 12, and 11)
that ‘‘in Becotland the common rule is by the
course of forty years,” but there must be con-
tinued possession free from interruption. Ac-
cording to Erskine (Inst. iii. 7, 2),* positive pre-
seription is generally defined by our lawyers as
the Romans did usucapion—the acquisition of
property by the continued possession of the ac-
quirer for such a time as is described by the law
to be sufficient for that purpose.” These learned
writers agree that the definition must be quali-
fied in cases where the law requires an antecedent
feudal title as the basis of prescription, as in
cases falling under the Act of 1617, chapter 12,
The effect of preseription in these cases is not
to constitute the right of the possessor, but to
fortify it against all future challenge. But with
the exception of one ingenious author—Napier
on Prescription, p. 870, who says that the pos-
session of the public ought to be ascribed to the jus
coron®—no one has suggested that any title is
required as the foundation of a preseriptive right
of public way. I am aware that there are dicla
to be found in which the prescriptive acquisi-
tion of a right-of-way by the public is attributed
to implied grant, acquiescence by the owner of
the soil, and so forth, but these appear to me to
be mere speculations as to the origin of the rule,
and their tendency is to obscure rather than to
elucidate its due application to a case like the
present.

Although the principles of law which govern
the acquisition of a prescriptive right-of-way are
.in themselves simple, yet in their application to
facts questions of nicety frequently arise. It
then becomes necessary to consider whether the
user has been that of the public, whether it has
been continuous and uninterrupted, and whether
it has existed for the full period required by
law. These are all questions of fact, and it
would not be expedient to lay down any specific
rules for their solution.  As regards the first of
all these questions, which has occasioned much
more controversy than the others, I think it is
safe to say, generally, that in order to constitute
a public user of the kind of road claimed in the
present action, the user must be of the whole
road, as a means of passage from the one ter-
minus to the other, and must not be such user
as can be reasonably ascribed either to private
servitude rights or to the license of the pro-
prietor.

Then ss regards the amount of user, that
must just be such as might have been reason-
ably expected if the road in dispute had been an
undoubted public highway.

Upon the evidence adduced the Lord Ordinary
and the learned Judges of the First Division
have come to the unanimous conclusion that

from the year 1846 down to the time when this
action was raised the appellant and his prede-
cessors in title have excluded the public from
the road in question, and that there is no proof
of the assertion of a right on the part of the
public during the whole of that period. With
that conclusion I entirely agree; and after the
observations which have been made upon this
part of the case by the Lord Ordinary it would
be a waste of time to refer to the evidence in
detail. There was, no doubt, some use of the
road prior to the year 1874 by persons uncon-
nected with the lands of Wardhouse, but that
use did not amount to the assertion of a public
right. Counsel for the respondents endeavoured
to press upon your Lordships the consideration
that the late Captain Stirling, who was proprietor
of Wardhouse from 1844 till his death in De-
cember 1872, was a very popular person, and
that in deference to his feelings the inhabitants
of the district did not assert their right so vigor-
ously a8 they would otherwise have done. Such
considerations are, in my opinion, utterly irrele-
vant. Public user is a fact which must be in-
ferred from overt acts of possession, and defective
evidence of user cannot be strengthened by
proof of the motives which induced individuals
to abstain from acts of that kind.

The legal consequence of the exclusion of the
public from and after the year 1846 is that the
respondents must establish possession on the
part of the public for forty years before that
date. The Lord Ordinary was of opinion that
the respondents have failed to instruct public
user before 1846 extending refro for forty years;
but the three learned Judges who decided the
case in the Inner House took a different view of
the evidence. They were of opinion that the
evidence is sufficient to sustain the inferemce
that before their exclusion in 1846 the public
had used the road as matter of right for the full
prescriptive period.

The evidence of the respondents does, in my
opinion, establish that from 1820 to 1846 the
public did use the road continuously and as
matter of right. That was the view taken by
the Loxrd Ordinary, as well as by the Judges of
the First Division, and it was not very seriously
disputed by the appellants’ counsel. It is cer-
tainly not proved that the road was used daily
either by foot-pasgengers or by carts, but it is
in evidence that it was used in both ways by
inhabitants of Kilbarchan, and also by a con-
siderable number of farmers in the neighbour-
hood whenever they had occasion. In arriving
at that conclusion I lay aside altogether the
evidence as to the road having been used as an
access to the mill-dam by bathers and curlers,
and I attach little weight to the evidence that
people used to stroll along part of the road, al-
though such evidence is not altogether devoid of
significance when it is coupled with proof of
public usé of the road throughout its entire
length.

The main controversy between the parties re-
lated to the condition and use of the road in
question during the period antecedent to the
year 1820. The respondents have adduced oral
testimony of living witnesses which reaches back
as far as the year 1803, The appellant has also
led proof which goes back to the year 1805, but
that proof consists of the hearsay testimony of a-
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single witness, Stevenson, whose information was
derived from his deceased father, who was tenant
of the lands of Wardhouse from 1805 until 1823,
It seems to be fairly deducible from the evidence
on both sides that about the year 1806 a bridge
was built by the late Mr Stevenson, at that time
the new tenant of Wardhouse, in order to carry
the road in question over a burn which it crosses,
between the steading of Wardhouse and the
Bruntshields Road. I think it is also proved
that a road existed before the bridge was built,
and that it previously crossed the burn by means
of a ford a little way further down the burn than
the site of the bridge. The condition of that
part of the road before 1806 is a matter of some
importance, and upon that point I can see no
reason for rejecting the testimony of the witness
Stevenson, who says that it could not be used by
loaded carts. Tomy mind it is extremely impro-
bable that an agricultural tenant would have in-
curred the expense of erecting a bridge if the
ford and its accesses had not been very unsuit-
able for ordinary farm traffic. It is also, in my
opinion, matter for observation that it is neither
proved nor suggested that at the time when the
bridge was built the road at that poinf. had
fallen into temporary disrepair, or that its bad
condition was due to other than permanent
causes.

I shall now refer to the evidence of possession
anterior to 1820. There are six aged witnesses
for the respondents whose combined testimony
covers the period from 1803 to 1820, and I begin
with those whose recollections are the most
recent, William Orr, who was born in 18035,
speaks to the use of the road from 1815 by carts
from his father's farms of Law and Lawmarnock,
and also from two other farms in the vicinity,
Pannell and Monkland, He also speaks to the
usge of the road by persons on foot, but it is by
no means clear that his evidence on that point
applies to the earlier years between 1815 and 1820,
John Gilmour, born in 1802, first saw the road
in 1814. When he was a boy he used the road
almost daily in the summer time, when he went
to bathe in the dam, and he likewise states that
he has seen horses and carts using the road, but
cannot say whose horses and carts they were.
He does not speak to the use of the road by foot-
passengers at that early period. James Clark,
born in 1802, who recollects the road since 1811
or 1812, says that ‘‘In these early days the road
in question was very much used by the Kilbar-
chan people for walking. I wentfrom end toend
of the road.” He seems to have used the road at
that time as an access to the dam when he went
with othér boys to bathe, and he says that he hasg
seen carts upon the road, but cannot say whose
they were. Archibald Hunter, born in 1803, was
first taken to the road about 1808 or 1809, when
he was a mere child, by his father, who on that
oceasion went from the Bruntshields Road a little
way up the road in dispute and then turned and
came away back again. I think it is the import
of his evidence that he did not renew his ac-
quaintance with the road until he was a ‘‘ young
lad,” whatever that may signify, probably not
before 1814 or 1815. He too went at that time
for the purpose of bathing in the dam, but he
says that the road was a great resort of the Kil-
barchan people, and that he has seen horses and
carts going along the road, but cannot say whose

they were, as he ‘‘ did not pay any attention.”

The two remaining witnesses for the respon-
dents who had the earliest acquaintance with
the road, and upon whose evidence great reliance
was placed by Lords Mure and Adam, are Mat-
thew Houston and John Houston. Matthew
Houston was born in 1793, and his first know-
ledge of the road was acquired in 1803 and 1804,
when he went to ‘“ ginnel ” trout in the burn over
which the bridge was subsequently built. He
left school and began to weave when he was
eleven years old, and it plainly appears from his
evidence that from that time until be was a
‘‘young man ” his knowledge of the road was
very limited—if indeed he was ever upom it,
which is by no means clear. Accordingly, he
knows nothing about the building of the bridge
save that he saw it after it was built, and he was
not even aware that Mr Stevenson was the ten-
ant of Wardhouse. It is very difficult to ascer-
tain the date at which he first saw the bridge,
but in all probability it cannot have been before
1809 or 1810. The only oceasion of his using
the road in his younger days was in going to
catch trout, with his hands at first and afterwards
with rod and line, and going to see the curlers on
the dam. He does give evidence to the effect
that the Kilbarchan people were in the habit of
walking along the road, but I do not think that
that evidence when closely examined can be held
to refer to the years 1803 and 1804. 'Then he
speaks to the existence of the road and ford in
these years, and he adds that the road was
“always passable for carts.” I believe that
staternent to be true, subject to the qualification
(which it does not exclude) that the ford and its
accesses did not afford a convenient passage for
carts, and were not passable by a loaded cart.
But I doubt very much whether his evidence as
to the use of the road by carts is in reality applic-
able to the years 1803 and 1804. Oue thing
is plain, that even if it be held to apply to these
two years his evidence at that time is limited to
milk carts, which supplied a dealer in Kilbarchan.
Then John Houston, who was born in 1799, first
went on the road in 1807, and frequently used it
afterwards on his way to the dam for the purpose
of bathing or gliding. He says nothing whatever
about the use of the road by other persons on
foot except for these purposes, and he says ex-
pressly—‘‘ I don’t remember seeing carts on the
road.” This witness, on cross-examination,
made a voluntary statement to the effect that
‘‘the carts went through the burn wuntil the
bridge was built.” The statement is not evid-
ence at all. The witness never saw the road be-
fore the bridge was built, and he cannot recollect
his having seen a single cart upon it after the
bridge was built. He does not say at what
time, or from whom, he obtained his inform-
ation, and in the absence of any evidence on
these points his hearsay statement is inadmiss-
ible.

In my opinion, the evidence of these old men,
taken by itself, and apart from any presumption .
which might be derived from other facts proved
in the case, would be quite insufficient to establish
that the road in question was used as matter of
right by the public from 1806 down to 1820. I
agree withthe L.ord Ordinary that the oral evidence
applicable to that period ¢ falls very far short of
what would be necessary to establish a public
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right-of-way,” and that it does not prove any use
of the road by members of the public, “except
such as may be predicated of any of the ordinary
farm-roads made and maintained by proprietors
throughout the country.” If I understand his
judgment aright, Lord Mure, though he does
refer at some length to the case of Harvie v.

ers, 3 Wilson and Shaw, 251, was of opinion
that the direct oral evidence was sufficient without
theaid of any presumption to establish public user
during that earlier period. Lord Adam does not
appear to me to have taken the same view, be-
cause he says—*‘‘I ask myself what is the pre-
sumption which we must draw when all the sur-
‘vivors speak in one direction. I thiunk there is
this presumption, that if we had more survivors
they would all have spoken in the same direc-
tion.” His [.ordship then refers to a direction of
the Liord Justice-Clerk (Hope) which was upheld
by this House in Cuthbertson v. Young, 1 Macq.
455, and goes on to say—‘‘ That charge of the
Lord Justice-Clerk (Hope) is an authority in the
direction I have already indicated, and if there is
evidence uncontradicted and undisputed, going
back to an early period, I think we are entitled
to have recourse to the presumption that there was
an antecedent grant.”

In Harviev. Rodgers (3 Wilson and Shaw, 251),
and Cuthbertson v. Young, both of which came to
this House upon a bill of exceptions to the charge
of the presiding Judge, there is no reference made
by the noble Lords who decided these cases to any
presumption of an antecedent grant. In Harvie
v. Rodgers there was evidence before the jury to
the effect that for at least 34 years prior to 1789
the public had enjoyed the free and uninterrupted
use of the footpath in question, and that from
1789 to 1822, when the action was brought, the
public continued to use it, notwithstanding re-
peated but unsuccessful attempts to bar their
passage. Lord Lyndhurst thus states the import
of the direction excepted to—** The learned Judge
in substance told the jury, There is evidence from
which you may assume that for a particular
period. namely, forty years, this way had been
exercised without interruption. If you are of
that opinion, then that is, according to the law
of Scotland, sufficient to establish a preseriptive
right-of-way ; and if that right-of-way be once
established in the manner I have stated, then I
tell you that in point of law subsequent inter-
ruptions not acquiesced in cannot defeat the
right so acquired.” In expressing his approval
of that direction the noble and learned Lord said
that if 34 years of uninterrupted exercise of the
right-of-way were established ‘‘ it was then com-
petent for the jury to presume, and they ought in
point of law to be directed to presume,” a previous
enjoyment of the same kind.

In Cuthbertson v. Young (14 D. 300) there was
evidence to show that between 1827 and the raising
of the action in 1849—a period of 22 years—the
public had been excluded from the footpath
claimed. The Lord Justice-Clerk (Hope) refused
to tell the jury that such evidence of interruption
was ‘‘sufficient in law to exclude such right-of-
way on the part of the public,” and he directed the
jury that *‘if evidence was given satisfactory to
their minds of the existence of a public footpath
as far back as the memory of living witnesses
could be expected to extend, although such testi-
mony did not either in any instance, or unly in

a few cases, go distinctly, as far back as forty
years prior to 1827, still it was competent for the
jury to presume, and (the evidence being consist-
ent and uncontradicted) the jury ought in point
of law to presume a previous enjoyment corres-
ponding with the manner in which it had been
enjoyed during the period embraced by the evid-
ence.” Inaffirming that direction the Lord Chan-
cellor (Cranworth) [1 Maeq. 455] added—¢1I
understand the learned Judge when he used the
expression ¢ the jury ought to presume,’ not to be
stating a proposition in law on which the jury were
bound to act, but merely to be pointing out what
was an almost irresistible inference in point of
fact.” The expression was borrowed verbatim by
the Lord Justice-Clerk from the judgment of Lord
Lyndhurst in Harvie v. Rodgers, yet it elicited
from Lord Cranworth the observation that Scotch
Judges are ‘‘sometimes perbaps a little loose in
their mode of directing juries.”

There can, I apprehend, be little doubt that
Lord Cranworth was right in pointing out that
any presumption which the jury were entitled or
ought to draw was matter not of law but of fact.
The decisions of the House in these two cases go
no further than this, that when there is no evid-
ence, or it may be scant evidence, applicable to
the commencement of the forty years requisite,
the Court or a jury may nevertheless infer, if the
evidence is sufficient to sustain the inference,
that the public user which is proved to have ex-
isted during the later portion of that period,
must have existed throughout. But these deci-
sions afford no indication whatever of the quan-
tum of evidence which will be sufficient to sup-
port such an inference. The House assumed,
and was bound to assume, that there was ample
evidence to support the inferences drawn by the
jury, for in Harvie v. Rodgers the Court had re-
fused a motion made for a new trial on the ground
that the verdict was against the weight of evidence,
and in Cuthbertson v. Young the verdict had
never been impeached on that ground.

In the present case there isevidence applicable
to the first 14 years of the prescriptive period
during which the respondents must establish
public user. To my mind, the evidence which
applies to these earlier years is deficient, not only
in amount but in quality. If twenty witnesses
had merely repeated the statements made by the
six old men who gave evidence for the respon-
dents, that would not in my opinion have
strengthened the respondents’ case. On the
other hand, the testimony of a smaller number of
witnesses, each speaking to persons using and
oceasions of user other than those observed by
these six witnesses, might have been a very mate-
rial addition to the evidence for the respondents.
It is however a just observation that it would not
be reasonable to expect that many witnesses could
be found capable of speaking to the condition of
the road in question and its use during the period
of 14 years ending in 1820—a period ranging from
63 to 77 years before proof was taken in this case.
The evidence suggests—and it is doubtless the
fact—that before this case went to proof the vast
majority of those who were qualified to speak to
that period of 14 years had paid the last debt of
nature, and I freely concede that in ordinary
circumstanees that fact might afford reascnable
grounds for presuming that the testimony of
those witnesses whom death has silenced would
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have amply supplemented the evidence of the
SUrvivors.

But the circumstances of the present case
appear to me to be exceptional. For 37 years
before the respondents brought their action the
public were excluded from the road, and mnever
asserted their right to use it. Whatever might
have been the case before that date, the pro-
prietors of Wardhouse by the lapse of seven
years from 1846 became entitled in 1833 to a
possessory judgment, and therefore they had no
occasion to establish their exclusive right to the
declarator. It lay with the public to establish
their right by judicial decree before they could
legally use the road. But that is not the only
effect which must be attributed to the exelusion
of the public for so long a period as 37 years.
The fact of exclusion will not per s¢ destroy a
pre-existent right of public way, unless it is
maintained for the prescriptive period of 40 years,
but it is, as stated by Lord Cranworth in Cuthbert-
son v. Young, 1 Macq. 459, evidence that no
public right ever existed, which may of course be
met and overcome by counter evidence. Lord
Adam was of opinion that the exclusive posses-
sion of the proprietor for 87 years threw a very
heavy onus on the respondents, and he adds that
““If, in spite of that onus, the pursuers have
been able to make out by proof of use over
the whole period of 40 years, or upon & presump-
tion arising from proof of use over a lengthened
part of that period, that the road was used or en-
joyed as a public road for that period, that will
be sufficient.” 8o far as it goes, I see no reason
to differ from that statement, but it appears to
me to omit all notice of the most important ques-
tion which arises in the circumstances of this
case, namely, to what extent the presumption to
which his Lordship refers is ousted by the fact
that there was no assertion of any right by the pub-
lic for a period only three years short of what was
necessary to place the appellant’s right to the road
beyond question, and I do not find that in dealing
with the evidence his Lordship entertains that
question, or considers the weight which that fact
of exclusion ought to bave against the presump-
tion which he draws in favour of the respon-
dents.

The Lord Ordinary in his opinion speaks of
s“the origin of the road,” and it appears to me
that the meaning which his Lordship intended
to convey by that phrase has been misappre-
hended in the Inner House. The Lord
Ordinary did not mean to suggest that there was
no road or track along the line now claimed
before 1806, but that before the erection of the
bridge in that year there was merely a bad farm
road, quite unsuitable for the purposes for which
the public used the road with carts between 1820
and 1846. And it is a significant fact that those
members of the public who used the road with
carts between 1820 and 1846 did so mainly
because its gradients were more suitable for a
loaded cart than those of the neigbouring high-
ways, whereas prior to the erection of the bridge
in 1806 the road was unavailable for such traffic.
1 also venture to think that Lord Mure bas mis-
interpreted the evidence of Mr Stevenson as to
his father’s complaints that the public used the
road. His Lordship seems to infer from that
evidence that throughout the term of his father’s
tenancy the public used the road as matter of

right—what the witness Stevenson does gay is,
“My father complained of people who took
advantage of the road that he had made. It was
domne in some cases, but very ravely.” 'The state-
ments of the witness obviously refer to a use
which did not begin until after the bridge was
erected, and moreover on any fair construction
of them they relate to actual complaints made at
the time in the hearing of & witness who was
born in 1812,

The impression made upon my mind by the
evidence applicable to the period between 1806
and 1820 is that it is quite possible, if not pro-
bable, that the appellant has by the lapse of time
been deprived of as much evidence as the respon-
dents. It is nowhere suggested that a single
person who lived upon the farm of Wardhouse
between 1805 and 1820, and who must have
known better than any of the aged worthies who
have been examined for the respondents the
condition of the road, its uses before and after the
erection of the bridge, was alive at the time the
proof was taken in this case. That loss of testi-
mony is plainly not imputable to the appellant,
and I know of no principle, and can see no good
reason that the public ought, any more than a
private litigant, to be exempted from the conse-
quences of their own laches in delaying the
judicial assertion of their rights.

In these circumstances I am very clearly of
opinion that the exclusive and wundisturbed
possession enjoyed for 87 years by the appellant
and his predecessors in title is absolutely fatal
to any presumption of public user prior to the
year 1820. And seeing that the evidence of
possession before that date is insufficient of itself,
and without the aid of presumption, to instruct
user by the public, I have come to the conclusion
that the interlocutor appealed from ought to be
reversed, and the judgment of the Lord Ordinary
restored.

Lorp FrrzeeErarp—My Lords, the statement
of the law made by my noble and learned friends
has been so very clear and satisfactory that I
shall not attempt to add one word to it. By the
law I mean the law of Scotland as applicable to
the particular case now before us. It differs
very much from the English law upon the same
subject, but still more from the law of Ireland,
which is so clear and simple upon a matter of
this kind that a question such as is now before
your Lordships could not possibly have arisen
in that country.

My Lords, baving disposed of the legal ques-
tion, the remaining question in the case is really
what is the correct view to take of the evidence
in the case, or what legitimate inference is to be
drawn from the facts unquestioned and in proof
in the case? From the beginning, when from
reading the judgment of the Lord Ordinary and
the judgments of the Appellate Court in Scotland,
I had learned that there was no real controversy
upon the fact that for 37 years before the bringing
of this action the public had been excluded
from this road, and excluded in a clear and
unequivocal manner, that that exclusion had
been coutinuous, and that the view of the Court
below was well founded in that respect by the .
facts in proof, it did appear to me that there was
an inference to be drawn from that so over-
whelming against the claim of the pursuers, that
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it would be difficult indeed to rebut that inference.

Now, let us put ourselves for a moment back
to the year 1846, when Captain Stirling was the
owner of Glentyan, and when he had acquired
the Wardhouse estate. He himself, we may
take it, knowing a great deal of the local
circumstances connected with the enjoyment of
this road before that time, whatever enjoyment
there was, proceeds to deal with this road for
the purpose of enlarging and completing his
policies, and he does it in & most expressive and
decided manner, namely, by closing up this road,
putting across it a gate which is constantly kept
locked or secured, and absolutely excluding the
public. Now, just let us place ourselves for a
moment in this position of things. He was
dealing with the community of Kilbarchan. The
act which he was doing was one which was
against the interest of every member of that
community ; it was one to which they would all
be adverse, and he was dealing with a community
that was quite capable of asserting and defending
its own rights—1I should come to the conclusion
that they would have asserted the right if a
public right-of-way had existed.

There is another view also to be taken. That
was in 1846, At that time the majority of the
community, or a large portion of them, could
have spoken to the enjoyment for 40 years
previously if enjoyment there had been. If
there had been continuous and exclusive posses-
sion by the public, there were then a number of
people who could have spoken to it in positive
terms and in the most satisfactory manner, both
upon the one side and upon the other, and it
gseems to me incredible that a community who
saw its right, if the right existed, violently
invaded would have long submitted to that
invasion and have acquiesced in it for 37 years.
The inference to be drawn from that is very
strong that a public right did not exist, and that
the people then living knew that it did not exist,
and that it was because of that knowledge that
the community acquiesced in the forcible act of
COaptain Stirling in excluding them. Well, if
that is the true view to take of it, it omly
remains to consider whether in this case there
is sufficient evidence of facts in proof to rebut
that legitimate and, as I have called it, over-
whelming inference.

My Lords, I do not intend to advert to any of
the details. They have been so well criticised
by my noble and learned friends who have
preceded me that I should only be wasting time
by entering upon them. I will only state what
occurs to my own mind regarding them, and
that is that at an early period, from 1805 to
1820, the evidence is of that character that it
cannot be said to be such full, complete, and
satisfactory evidence as would rebut the infer-
ence deducible from a 37 years’ acquiescence,
which can only be rebutted by proving that for
40 years anterior to 1846 the public had a clear
and continuous possession as of right and with
no interruption.

My Lords, I entirely agree with the judgment
of the Lord Ordinary, and I think that the
interlocutor under appeal should be reversed,
and that the interlocutor of the Lord Ordinary
should be restored.

Interlocutor under appeal reversed, and inter-
VOL. XXII.

locutor of the Lord Ordinary restored. The
appellant to receive the expenses in the Court
below from the date of the Lord Ordinary’s
interlocutor, and the respondents to pay the costs
of this appeal.
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(Before the Lord Chancellor, Lords Blackburn,
Watson, and Fitzgerald.)

DUKE OF HAMILTON 2. DUNLOP AND
ANOTHER.

(Ante, vol. xxi. p. 657, and 11 R, 963--20th
June 1884.3
Property— Personal Privilege— Conveyance — Re-
servation in Conveyance of *“ Liberty of - Work-
ing” Minerals.

When a proprietor dispones lands, re-
serving to himself the ¢ liberty of working
the coal and other minerals” therein, he is
to be understood, not as reserving a mere
personal privilege of working minerals, but
as reserving the property of the coal and
other minerals.

By an excambion a proprietor conveyed
lands which contained minerals to a neigh-
bouring proprietor in exchange for others,
reserving to himself and his heirs and sue-
cessors in the lands obtained in exchange,
““if conveyed with that privilege,” the
““liberty of working ” coal and other mine-
rals in the lands he conveyed, under the de-
claration that these must not be worked from
the surface but from other lands which might
belong to him or them. Thereafter he sold
the lands obtained in exchange without
mention of the ¢privilege.” In a question
between his heir and the heir of the pro-
prietor with whom he had made the excam-
bion, keld (aff. judgment of Second Divi-
sion) that the reserved right of working
minerals was a reservation of the property
therein, and not of a mere privilege of the
nature of a servitude which might be lost
non utendo, or which had fallen by the
conveyance of the lands without mention
of the ‘¢ privilege.”

This case is reported in Court of Session, ante,
vol. xxi. p. 6567, and 11 R. 963—20th June 1884.

The defender, the Duke of Hamilton, ap-
pealed.

At the conclusion of the arguments on behalf
of the appellant, their Lordships delivered judg-
ment as follows :—

Loep CraNcELnoR—My Lords, it appears to
me that the unanimous decision of the Second
Division of the Court of Session agreeing with
that of the Lord Ordinary in this case is right.

I will first make some observations which occur
to me, which shall be but few, upon what I re-
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